1972

## Keith J. Lane And Lea N. Lane : Brief of Appellants

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the plaintiffs and appellants to quiet title to a parcel of land located within Provo City, based upon a record title to the property. By an amended answer and counterclaim, defendants and respondents claim a portion of the land by occupation thereof up to a fence line over a long period of years. The case was tried on the theory of boundary by

acquiescence. The parties will hereafter be referred to as plaintiffs and defendants.

## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The lower court held that a portion of the property up to the fence line had been occupied by the defendants over a period of years, and entered a decree quieting title to that property in the defendants against plaintiffs pursuant to defendants' counterclaim.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek to have the judgment of the lower court with respect to defendants' counterclaim reversed, with a direction to the lower court to enter its decree quieting title in plaintiffs to the whole parcel as prayed for in plaintiffs' complaint.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

It will be helpful to the court and facilitate the making of this statement if the court will refer to the plat of the property introduced in evidence as plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 1.

The property shaded in green on Exhibit No. 1 is the property which plaintiffs sought to quiet title to by their complaint. Plaintiffs record title to the property is not in dispute. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 7). Their record title is not perfect, which is the reason

for the quiet title action in the first place, but is superior to defendants who have no record title whatever. (TR. 18, 19, 45, 47) (Defendants' Exhibit No. 13, which is defendants' only evidence of record title, does not include the land in dispute.)

The property outlined in red, including the portion shaded green and marked with an "x" is the property claimed by the defendants. The portion in dispute and which is the subject of this appeal is the shaded green part marked with the "x". At the time of trial plaintiffs conceded to defendants the shaded green portion marked "y". This was done because of the claimed occupation by the defendants and the payment of taxes thereon by the defendants for more than seven years, although plaintiffs also paid taxes thereon during the same period. Defendants have never paid any taxes on the "x" portion and all taxes thereon have been paid by the plaintiffs and their predecessors. (TR. 20, 21)

Plaintiffs' land, which is shaded in green, came to the plaintiffs in three separate parcels. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit Nos. 3, 4, 5 and 7.) Plaintiffs' surveyor testified that he made the survey as shown by plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 1 and that the property shaded in green was located on this plat from the title lines of three separate parcels, all assessed in the name of Afton Crandall, plaintiffs' predecessor in interest. (TR. 9, 13, 14) The assessor's cards, (Plaintiffs' Exhibit Nos. 3, 4, 5) show separate tax assessments on the three separate parcels to Afton Crandall, and the abstract of title (Plaintiffs' Exhibit

No. 7) shows the property to have been acquired in a similar manner. Taxes on all three properties making up the land shaded in green, including the properties designated as "x" and "y" have always been paid by the plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest, although defendants also paid the taxes on the "y" portion. (TR. 20)

The fence line in question is shown on Exhibit No. 1 to be along the southwest boundary of the parcel marked "x" which is also substantially along the dividing line of two of the three parcels making up the shaded green portion. It is labeled on the plat as "picket fence" and the picket fence extends only a very short way from the southwest corner of the "x" portion toward the southeast and appears to follow an old fence line which apparently had been there for many years previous. (TR. 25, 27) The county plat numbered as plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 15 also shows the three parcels making up plaintiffs' record title, and defendants' Exhibit No. 12 shows the extension of the picket fence line along a fence line in substantially the same place. Defendants' Exhibit No. 12 also shows the very close proximity of plaintiffs' house to the fence line, and defendants' surveyor testified that the defendants' house is located about 49 feet from the fence line. (TR. 30)

There is no evidence in the record as to who put up the original fence, when it was erected, or the purpose. The only evidence of its antiquity is that of defendant, RAISA WALKER, who says she has a recollection of the fence being in place when she was six and one-



half years old. (TR. 33, 34) Based upon her present age, this would take it back to 1923. There is likewise no evidence as to who took it down, when it was taken down, or the reason therefor. It appears to have been almost exactly on a deed line between two parcels of the parcels shaded in green, both of which are prima facie titled in plaintiffs' predecessors and through whom plaintiffs claim ownership. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 1, Defendants' Exhibit No. 2, Defendants' Exhibit No. 12, Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 15)

Defendants' title to the property outlined in red, exclusive of the portion marked "x", stems solely from a deed datd January 10, 1947, from Weeter Investment Company, a corporation. (Defendants' Exhibit No. 15) There is no chain of title to the corporation. (TR. 45) Defendant, RAISA WALKER, testified that at the time the deed was executed her father caused a survey of the property to be made. (TR. 47) A reading of the description makes it obvious that it was obtained from a survey. That deed does not include the "x" property in dispute.

Defendants' Exhibit No. 2 which is the survey prepared by defendants' surveyors, shows the fence line to be in substantially the same place as shown on Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 1.

Plaintiffs' predecessors in interest back to the year 1936 testified that they never acquiesced in the fence line as being the boundary between plaintiffs' and defendants' lands. Mrs. Eunice Young said that in 1940

she told defendants' predecessor in interest that he was on her land and had no right to be there. (TR. 65) At that time it was open land. (TR. 67)

In 1955, the land in dispute was sold to James C. Cordner, (TR. 72) and Mrs. Sheryl Cordner, wife of James Cordner, testified that shortly after they purchased the land she told Mrs. Raisa Walker, one of the defendants, that she owned the disputed property and was paying taxes on it, to which Mr. Walker said "we don't care how long you have been paying on it." (TR. 73, 74) Mrs. Cordner further testified that the fence had never been accepted as the line dividing the property as far as she was concerned or her family. (TR. 76)

The disputed property was then sold to Eugene and Afton B. Crandall and the dispute with respect to the property continued until their deaths. (TR. 80.81)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### I

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE WHATEVER FROM WHICH A FICTION CAN BE INDULGED IN THAT THE ORIGINAL FENCE WAS ERECTED WITH A MUTUAL INTENT TO MARK AN AGREED BOUNDARY BETWEEN PLAINTIFFS' LAND AND THE LAND CLAIMED BY THE DEFENDANTS.

### II

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH IT CAN BE PRESUMED OR INFERRED

THAT THE TRUE BOUNDARY BETWEEN THE LAND NOW CLAIMED BY DEFENDANTS AND PLAINTIFFS' LAND WAS EVER UNCERTAIN OR IN DISPUTE AT THE TIME THE ORIGINAL FENCE WAS ERECTED.

### III

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF MUTUAL ACQUIESCENCE IN THE FENCE AS A BOUNDARY LINE FOR ANY PERIOD OF TIME.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE WHATEVER FROM WHICH A FICTION CAN BE INDULGED IN THAT THE ORIGINAL FENCE WAS ERECTED WITH A MUTUAL INTENT TO MARK AN AGREED BOUNDARY BETWEEN PLAINTIFFS' LAND AND ANY LAND CLAIMED BY DEFENDANTS.

The doctrine of boundary by acquiescence has been considered by the Supreme Court on many occasions, and it does not appear that the cases are materially in conflict as to the principles upon which the doctrine is based, or upon the circumstances required to invoke its application. *BRIEM v. SMITH*, 100 U. 213, 112 P. 2d 145; *GLENN v. WHITNEY*, 116 U. 267, 209 P.

2d 257; *HUMMEL v. YOUNG*, 1 U. 2d 237, 265 P. 2d 410; *RINGWOOD v. BRADFORD*, 2 U. 2d 119, 269 P. 2d 1053; *KING v. FRONK*, 14 U. 2d 135, 378 P. 2d 893; *FUOCO v. WILLIAMS*, 18 U. 2d 282, 421 P. 2d 944; *CARTER v. LINDNER*, 23 U. 2d 204; 460 P. 2d 830; and *JOHNSON v. SESSIONS*, 25 U. 2d 133, 477 P. 2d 788.

Fundamentally, the doctrine is based upon the fiction that at some time in the past adjoining landowners were in dispute or uncertain as to the location of the true boundary between their properties, and that they settled their differences by agreeing upon the fence or other monument as a dividing line between them, which became binding on them and their successors. *GLENN v. WHITNEY* (supra). In *FUOCO v. WILLIAMS*, (supra), the court restated the doctrine to require minimally:

- (1) Occupation up to a visible line marked by monuments, fences or buildings
- (2) Mutual *acquiescence in the line as the boundary* [emphasis supplied]
- (3) For a long period of years
- (4) By adjoining landowners

The court in the *FUOCO* case emphasized that the "acquiescence" required was of mutual knowledge, recognition and acquiescence in the line as being the boundary between the properties. The court said on page 286:

“In order to establish a boundary by acquiescence, it is not necessary that the acquiescence should be manifested by a conventional agreement, but recognition and acquiescence must be mutual, and both parties must have knowledge of the existence of the line *as a boundary line*. In the instant case, there is no mention of Fuoco’s predecessors in interest, and there is no direct evidence of their knowledge of the existence or their recognition and acquiescence in the ditch as a boundary line. In the instant case any inference of recognition and acquiescence in the ditch as the boundary by individuals, not record owners, who formed the Fuoco tract is immaterial. The record contains insufficient evidence to support a finding of mutual recognition and acquiescence in the ditch *as a boundary*.” [emphasis supplied]

This court said in *HUMMEL v. Young*, (*supra*), in affirming a Utah County case where the District Court refused to apply the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence, that there must be some reasonable basis in the evidence from which it can be implied that the fence was built to mark the boundary line pursuant to an agreement between adjoining owners.

As it does not appear from any evidence in the record of this case as to when or why the fence was constructed or that there was any dispute between the original landowners on either side of the fence as to their

true property line at the time it was erected, the fiction of an agreed boundary line cannot be indulged in. On the contrary, the fence line is located substantially on the title line between parcels making up the land claimed by the plaintiffs, and there is nothing in the record from which it can be presumed or inferred that the fence was intended for any purpose other than to mark the title line between two of the parcels of land which now comprise the land owned by the plaintiffs and to which they seek to have their title quieted. Likewise, the irregular shape of plaintiffs' land which would remain if the "x" parcel were removed, the fact that defendants' house is located some 49 feet from the claimed boundary line while plaintiffs' house is located about 2 or 3 feet from the line, certainly will not support a presumption or fiction that plaintiffs' predecessors "agreed" to the old fence line as the boundary between their properties.

## POINT II

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH IT CAN BE PRESUMED OR INFERRED THAT THE TRUE BOUNDARY BETWEEN THE LAND NOW CLAIMED BY DEFENDANTS AND PLAINTIFFS' LAND WAS EVER UNCERTAIN OR IN DISPUTE AT THE TIME THE ORIGINAL FENCE WAS ERECTED.

In *CARTER v. LINDNED*, (*supra*), this court said: