1972

Keith J. Lane And Lea N. Lane : Brief of Respondents

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This action was filed by appellants to obtain title to land occupied by respondents for more than 48 years, divided by a fence, and improved by respondents over the last 30 years. The respondents counter-claimed

contending that right to the property had been acquired by long occupancy and acquiescence of adjoining land owners for many years.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Respondents prevailed, the court holding that respondents had a right to possession, but did not quiet title in their names.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents seek to have the decision of the lower court affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts as stated by appellants are essentially correct. The parties have adjoining residence, the respondents' home having been erected some 30 years ago and prior to the home occupied by appellants. Some 25 feet identified as property "x" on plaintiffs' Exhibit 1 is disputed. The area includes driveway, clothes line, trees and shrubs. A fence was erected before 1922, (TR. page 33, line 25 and page 34, line 2) and was never questioned by adjoining owners until 1940, (TR. page 39, lines 13-15) at which time a predecessor to appellants' disputed the location of the fence and subsequent arguments ensued but no action was taken until the present action was filed in September of 1971.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

THE FACTS OF THIS CASE CLEARLY ESTABLISH THE NECESSARY ELEMENTS TO FIND THAT THE FENCE CONSTITUTES A BOUNDARY BY ACQUIESCENCE.

ARGUMENT

As stated by appellants on page 8 of his brief, this Court, in *FUOCO v. WILLIAMS*, 18 Utah 2d 282, 421 P. 2d 944, stated the four elements essential to finding a boundary by acquiescence are:

- (1) Occupation up to a visible line marked by monuments, fences or buildings;
- (2) Mutual acquiescence in the line as the boundary;
- (3) For a long period of years;
- (4) By adjoining landowners;

I will treat each of these elements as they apply to the present case.

- (1) Occupation up to a visible line marked by monuments, fences or buildings:

The evidence is undisputed that since 1922, when Mrs. Walker first remembers the fence existing in its present location, there has been a visible line and there has been continuous, uninterrupted occupancy by the

respondents or their predecessors in interest. That such line is still identifiable is established by respondents' surveyor in Exhibit 12 which identifies each post.

(2) Mutual acquiescence in the line as the boundary.

The fence in question was in place in 1922 and no one raised any objection as to its location until 1940. (TR. page 64, lines 4 and 5) After those mere verbal objections nothing was done to assert the claim by affirmative action until 1971. Thus, we have 18 years of acquiescence with no objections, and 31 years of acquiescence by failure to act after making claim to the property. Either action is sufficient to show acquiescence.

The case of **MOTZKUS v. CARROLL**, 7 Utah 2d 237, 322 P. 2d 391, held:

“Where party by evidence establishes a long period of acquiescence in a fence as marking boundary line between two tracts, he is not required to also produce evidence that location of true boundary line was ever unknown, uncertain or in dispute.”

It is further held such long acquiescence

“Gives rise to presumption that true boundary line was in dispute or uncertain, and places burden of producing evidence that there was no dispute or uncertainty but that true boundary line was known to respective owners or party claiming that such was the fact.”

Also, in **BROWN v. MILLINER**, 120 Utah 16, 232 P. 2d 202, it was stated that dispute or uncertainty

regarding true boundary line will be implied from the party's long acquiescence.

The property referred to as "y" and "x" has been conveyed by plaintiffs predecessors in interest by a separate Quit-Claim Deed, (TR. 76-77, lines 1-6) thus admitting a cloud upon the title yet failing to take any affirmative action to correct the same.

Mrs. Walker's testimony is that the property was used by her grandmother for pasturing a cow and growing berries (TR. page 33, line 12), with the inference that the fence has been in place much longer than the 49 years recalled by Mrs. Walker. I submit it becomes difficult to locate living witnesses when such periods are involved. Even after the question of location arose in approximately 1940, the appellants still took no affirmative action, but acquiesced in respondents' occupancy for another 31 years.

No testimony was offered by either party as to the original intent in erecting the fence in question. Therefore, this case would be governed by the rule set forth in **HOLMES v. JUDGE**, 31 Utah 269, 87 P. 1009, and followed in numerous other decisions as set forth in **BROWN v. MILLINER** (supra) page 207. This rule is that in the absence of evidence as to an express agreement as to the location of a boundary, if adjoining owners have occupied land to a visible boundary for a long period of time the law will imply an agreement fixing the boundary.

(3) Acquiescence for a long period of time.

In *EKBERG v. BATES*, 239 P.2d 205, 121 Utah 123, the court held that approximately 8 years was sufficient time to acquire property by acquiescence.

“The doctrine of ‘boundary by acquiescence’ looks to settling of titles under circumstances where claimants have slept on their claimed rights for a long time, presently assert those rights for one reason or another”

“This idea is based on the concept that we must live together in a spirit justifying repose or fixation of titles where there has been a disposition on the part of neighbors to leave an ancient boundary as is *without taking some affirmative action to assert rights inconsistent with evidence of a visible, long-standing boundary.*” (Italics for emphasis).

Thus, it would appear that there is no question but what a sufficient length of time expired in the instant case to have established a boundary by acquiescence.

(4) By adjoining owners of land:

This is not disputed and, therefore, no comment need be made to establish this element.

CONCLUSION

Long acquiescence in a visible boundary by the parties and their predecessors without testimony as to

what was intended when fence was erected gives rise to an implied agreement that the fence was a boundary. Secondly, after the verbal dispute by appellants in 1940, 31 years elapsed before legal action was taken. Either period of time is sufficient to establish the fence as a legal line.